68021-8

COA NO. 68021-8-I

IN THE COURT OF APPEALS OF THE STATE OF WASHINGTON DIVISION ONE

A. ASSIGNMENTS OF ERROR

The King County Superior Court erred in awarding CR
11 sanctions against Appellant on November 15th, 2011. CP 318-322.

ISSUES:

A. Was it an error of law for the trial court to award CR 11 sanctions against Appellant where he was never given notice of potential CR 11 sanctions prior to the motion for CR11 sanctions?

B. Was it error to award CR 11 sanctions where the Respondent did not incur any attorney fees or costs when his attorney filed a motion to redact the attorney's social security number?

C. Can a court enter an award of attorney fees pursuant to CR 11 to a non-party?

D. Can a court use CR 11 as punishment? In other words, is CR 11 a fee-shifting statute?

E. Did Brian K. Fresonke mislead the trial Court into believing that Respondent incurred attorney fees?

2. The King County Superior Court erred in awarding CR 11 sanctions against Appellant on December 8th, 2011. CP 434.

ISSUES:

A. Was it an error of law to award CR 11 sanctions against Appellant without first having given Appellant notice and opportunity to defend himself against the alleged CR11 violations? Was it a constitutional due process violation?

B. Can a trial court use CR 11 as punishment?

C. Was it an error of law to award CR 11 sanctions without knowing whether Respondent incurred attorney fees, or the exact attorney fees and costs actually incurred?

3. The King County Superior court erred in holding that Appellant failed to provide to Respondent notice of a \$1600 deposit into court registry.

ISSUES:

A. What does the evidence show? Did Appellant properly notify Respondent's attorney, Brian K. Fresonke, on or about December 17th, 2011 that the Appellant had deposited \$1600 into the King County Superior Court registry?

B. Did Brian K. Fresonke mislead the court, in alleging that Appellant had failed to give him notice of the \$1600 deposit into court registry?

C. Is Brian K. Fresonke an honest man?

B. <u>STATEMENT OF THE CASE</u>

The appeal herein arises out of a lawsuit filed by Appellant against Respondent for nuisance, mainly caused by Respondent's dog. CP 20-26. In response, on June 1st, 2010 the respondent, through his attorney Brian K. Fresonske, filed an answer. CP 1-8. A couple weeks later, having noticed a change in Respondent's behavior, the Appellant filed a motion for dismissal of the entire complaint. CP 27-28. The trial court granted the dismissal. CP 29-30. A couple weeks later, on July 7th, 2010, the Respondent, through his attorney Brian K. Fresonke, filed a motion to compel discovery for further litigation. CP 31-34, 404-406. Mr. Fresonke even made his client pay a \$230.00 filing fee. CP 405. In response, the Appellant was forced to file a motion to strike the said motion because the trial court had already dismissed the entire case. CP 38-44. The trial court properly denied Respondent further discovery. CP 56-57. In addition, the Appellant was also forced to file a motion to dismiss Respondent's counterclaim contained in his answer because it was not a legal claim. CP 45-55. In response, the trial court properly dismissed the Respondent's counterclaim. CP 58-59.

On July 29th, 2010 the Respondent, through his attorney Brian K. Fresonke, filed a motion for attorney fees pursuant to RCW 4.84.185, alleging that Appellant's claims were frivolous. CP 60-63. Subsequently, the trial court granted the motion and entered an order against Appellant, granting Respondent \$1600.00 in attorney fees. CP 69-70. Based on the langauge of that order, which was authored by Brian K. Fresonke, the trial court allegedly found that "Plaintiff's claims against defendant are frivolous and advanced without reasonable cause contrary to RCW 4.84.185" CP 69. However, the order did not provide an explanation, nor a factual analysis, to substantiate this allegation. CP 69. Likewise, the order did not provide an explanation that \$1600 was an appropriate or reasonable amount. CP 69.

But, shortly thereafter, the Appellant filed a motion for clarification to ascertain whether the trial court judge had found Appellant's complaint frivolous in its *entirety*. CP 91-94. In respone to Appellant's motion for clarification, the trial court judge responded with an order saying that he believed Appellant's 1st count in his complaint and Appellant's request for punitive damages were frivolous. CP 108.

Importantly, the trial court judge did *not* find Appellant's two other claims to be frivolous. CP 108. Attempting to vindicate his rights, the Appellant filed a motion to vacate the \$1600 judgment because a trial court cannot grant attorney fees pursuant to RCW 4.84.185 unless the trial court finds the entire complaint frivolous. CP 95-132. But, to no avail. The trial court, summarily and without explanation, denied the motion to vacate the

judgment. CP 133-134. The Appellant filed an appeal in the Court of Appeals, but because he did not have enough money to pay the filing fee, the case was eventually dismissed. See Docket, Case #659201. In the case herein, the Court of Appeals has granted a fee waiver. See Docket for this case.

About a year later, on November 3rd, 2011, the Respondent's attorney, Brian K. Fresonke, filed a motion for an order to show cause, asking the trial court to disburse the \$1600 (from the King County Superior Court registry) that Appellant deposited in November of 2010 and to impose a CR 11 sanction against Appellant for Appellant's failure to redact Mr. Brian K. Fresonke's social security number from a brief that had been filed with the trial court back on November 5th, 2010. CP 182-183. But, neither the Respondent, David Adams, nor his attorney, Brian Fresonke, ever gave Appellant prior notice that they would be seeking CR 11 sanctions.

The particular brief referenced by Brian K. Fresonke was a motion that contained three instances of an unredacted social security number and was a request to admit evidence of Brian K. Fresonke's failure to pay U.S. Federal income tax in the least 15 years. See CP 440-450. Brian K. Fresonke never responded to that motion. See Docket, Case # 10-2-15463-9. Thus, Respondent David R. Adams, represented by Brian K. Fresonke, did not incur fees or costs relating to that motion. Mr. Brian K. Fresonke was concerned with the exhibits attached to the motion, which were exact and unredacted tax liens that were publicly obtained from the King County Recorder's Office. CP 446. The tax liens show that Brian K. Fresonke has failed to pay U.S. federal income tax and owes more than \$80,000 to the U.S. Government. CP 440-460. It is obvious why Brian K. Fresonke wanted the documents sealed.

Before proceeding further, and to understand Brian K. Fresonke, its instructive to take a look at his declaration, signed under penalty of perjury, which was attached to the motion for the order to show cause. CP 184-190. Mr. Brian K. Fresonke claims that he was never informed that Appellant had deposited \$1600 into the court registry to satisfy the trial court's \$1600 judgment against Appellant. See CP 185-186. Specifically, Mr. Fresonke alleged: "Mr. Bykov failed to provid [sic] notice that he had paid these funds into the court registry. As a result, there was no way for anyone to ascertain that there were funds in the court registry available to pay towards my client's judgment." CP 185.

Mr. Fresonke also alleged: "Mr. Bykov, the judgment debtor, failed to provide any notice whatsoever that he paid \$1,600 into the court registry. He also failed to file any pleading with the Court that would have put my client or me on notice that he was tendering payment toward Mr. Adam's judgment. As a result, Mr. Adams' judgment remains unsatisfied to this day and prejudgment interest has continued to accrue on the princiapl judgment amount." CP 186.

However, the indisputable evidence shows that Mr. Brain K. Fresonke *was* clealry informed of the deposit into the court's registry in mid-December of 2010 by a motion filed and served on Brian K. Fresonke. CP 239-244. Brian K. Fresonke was clearly apprised that: "The Appellant, in conformity with this Court's prior order, has deposited the sum of \$1600.00 in the King County Superior Court trust registry..." CP 239. The document was served on Brian Fresonke on December 17th, 2010. CP 244.

This is why Appellant filed the motion to admit evidence of Brian K. Fresonke's failure to pay U.S. federal income tax. CP 440-450. To show that he is a dishonest person. Mr. Brian Fresonke is currently on a 5 year deferred sentence for DUI in Seattle Municipal Court. (Case# 542173.) CP 260.

In the end, the trial court completely overlooked the evidence, that Appellant had, in fact, informed Respondent of the \$1600 deposit in December of 2010. The court issued an order with an interest amount calculated from September, 2010 to November, 2011. CP 320-322. Appellant made Brian Fresonke an offer to settle the judgment on September 16th, 2010. CP 273. Brian Fresonke refused to accept cash. CP 273. Brian K. Fresonke asked the trial court to impose CR 11 sanctions against Appellant for having filed a document with an unredacted social security number. CP 182-183. But, as mentioned *supra*, he never gave notice to Appellant prior to seeking CR 11 sanctions.

Furthermore, Brian K. Fresonke alleged that it had taken him "2.1 hours reviewing the Clerk's file to locate the places in the record where Mr. Bykov improperly inserted my social security number and in preparing this motion to redact." CP 189-190. However, he already knew where the unredacted social security number appeared, because he was served with the document on November 5th of 2010. See CP 440-450. Perhaps he may have forgotten the precise location because he waited almost a whole year, before making the CR 11 motion on November 3rd, 2011. CP 190.

Brian K. Fresonke asked the court to award \$731.50 for the 2.1 hours he allegedly spent looking for his social security number. CP 190. He made the calculation, alleging that he charges \$275.00 an hour. CP 190. However, back in 2010 he indicated that he charges \$175.00 per hour. CP 36-37, 405. Interestingly, there is no evidence that the Respondent, David R. Adams, actually paid anything to Brian K. Fresonke so that Brian Fresonke could look for his own social security number. Indeed, Brian K. Fresonke admits that there were in fact no attorney fees. See CP 432 . There, Mr. Fresonke says: "Bykov [Appellant] claims that the November 15, 2011 judgment was for attorney's fees, but it was in fact a CR 11 sanction. Judge Doerty adopted defendant's request to measure the sanction with reference to the value of the attorney time that went into preparing and arguing the motion to redact defense counsel's social security number from Bykov's pleadings." CP 432. Thus, the November 15th, 2011 judgment (CP 318-322) was not a judgment for attorney fees, but simply a "sanction".

In response to Brian K. Fresonke's motion to disburse funds and CR 11 sanction, the Appellant filed opposition briefs. CP 224-317. Appellant clearly pointed out that Brian K. Fresonke was apprised of the \$1600 deposit back in December of 2010. CP 224-225. Appellant clearly pointed out that there was no need for Brian K. Fresonke to "look" for his social security number because he already knew where it was. CP 226-227. However, the trial court simply awarded Brian K. Fresonke everything he wanted. CP 318-322. The trial court even listed both, David Adams and Brian Fresonke, as judgment creditors. CP 318.

Hoping to convince the judge that the entry of the judgment was wrong, Appellant filed a motion for reconsideration and to vacate the judgment and to schedule an evidentiary hearing to determine whether, in fact, the Respondent, David R. Adams, had incurred any costs or fees as a result of Brian K. Fresonke "looking" for his own social security number. CP 323-378 The Appellant clearly pointed out to the trial court that it was inappropriate to award CR 11 sanctions because Brian K. Fresonke did not give prior notice of intent to file a motion for CR 11 sanctions. See CP 373. The trial court denied the motion and summarily, without giving an opportunity to defend himself, ordered Appellant to pay \$1000 as CR 11 sanction. CP 434. In other words, the trial court judge did not give Appellant prior notice - an opportunity to defend himself - before awarding attroney fees pursuant to CR 11. See CP 434.

C. <u>ARGUMENT</u>

1. THE TRIAL COURT ERRED IN AWARDING CR 11 SANCTIONS AGAINST APPELLANT ON NOVEMBER 15TH, 2011 BECAUSE:

First, the standard of review. To determine whether the trial court had the legal right, based on the facts, to grant an award of attorney fees pursuant to a statute or rule is de novo. *Gander v. Yeager*, 274 P.3d 393 (Wash. App., 2012) In other words, the question of whether CR 11 sanctions can be granted, based on the facts, is a question of law. Issues of law are reviewed de novo. See *Rasmussen v. Bendotti*, 29 P.3d at 60, 107 Wash.App. 947 (Wash. App., 2001) On the other hand, a review of the discretionary decision to actually award or deny attorney fees and the reasonableness of any attorney fee award is based on an abuse of discretion standard. . *Gander v. Yeager*, at 397. In other words, was it reasonable to make the award, based on the facts?

Before proceeding with argument, a review of CR 11. CR 11 permits sanctions, including attorney fees, when a party advances litigation lacking a legal or factual basis. See CR 11. CR 11 was modeled after the Federal Rule of Civil Procedure (Rule 11) and federal decisions interpreting Rule 11 often provide guidance in interpreting the state rule. *Biggs v. Vail*, 124 Wn.2d at 196, 876 P.2d 448 (Wash., 1994)

In deciding upon a sanction, the trial court should impose the least severe sanction necessary to carry out the purpose of the rule. *Ibid.* Should a court decide that the appropriate sanction under CR 11 is an award of attorney fees, it must limit those fees to the amounts *reasonably expended* in responding to the sanctionable filings. *Ibid.*, at 201. (italicised for emphasis) CR 11 sanctions should be limited to the minimum necessary and should not be used as a fee-shifting mechanism. *Ibid.* A purpose of fee shifting statutes is to penalize. *In re Disciplinary Proceeding Against Dynan*, 98 P.3d at 450, 152 Wash.2d 601 (Wash., 2004) In other words, CR 11 sanctions are *not* to be used to penalize the offending party. One judge believes that: "Attorneys overuse Civil Rule 11." See *Gander v. Yeager*, 274 P.3d at 397 (Wash. App., 2012) However, nothwithstanding an actual violation of CR 11, lawyers and judges who perceive a possible violation of CR 11 must bring it to the offending party's attention as soon as possible. *Biggs v. Vail*, 124 Wn.2d at 198, 876 P.2d 448 (Wash., 1994) Without such notice, CR 11 sanctions are unwarranted. *Ibid.* (citing *Bryant v. Joseph Tree, Inc.,* 119 Wash.2d 210, 218-19, 829 P.2d 1099 (1992)) In other words, if the offending party is not notified of a possible CR 11 violation prior to the opposing party filing a CR 11 motion, the Court, as a matter of law, cannot grant the CR 11 motion. It would be an abuse of discretion to do so.

The Appellant believes that the foregoing legal principles, as applied to the facts, show that the court's November 15th, 2011 order (CP 320-322) granting \$731.50 in attorney fees to Brian K. Fresonke and to David R. Adams was in error.

The facts and legal argument. In the case herein, the Respondent's attorney, Brian K. Fresonke, on November 3rd, 2011, filed a motion for attorney fees pursuant to CR 11, alleging that "...there was no legitimate reason for Mr. Bykov to include my social security number in his November 5, 2010 pleading. He did this solely as an act of malice and harassment against me. I am therefore asking the court to award CR 11 sanctions against Bykov for including my social security number in his pleading because he did so to harass me and because his doing so had

needlessly increased the cost of the litigation." CP 189. Furthermore, Brian K. Fresonke goes on to say "I [Brian K. Fresonke] have spent 2.1 hours reviewing the Clerk's file to locate the places in the record where Mr. Bykov improperly inserted my social security number and in preparing this motion to redact. (This does not include the time spent on the other aspects of this motion.) I anticipate that I will be spending an additional 2.0 hours obtaining an *ex parte* order to show cause and appearing for the hearing on show cause to be scheduled before Judge Inveen. I believe that 1/3 of this additional 2.0 hours of attorney time, or .66 of an hour, is attributable to the motion to redact my social security number form {sic} Mr. Bykov's pleading." CP 189-190.

From the above, it is clear that the Respondent, David R. Adams, did not request that his own social security number be redacted from a pleading. Instead, it is the Respondent's attorney, Brian K. Fresonke, who wanted his own social security number be redacted from a pleading. CP 185. In other words, Brian K. Fresonke was not representing David R. Adams in the motion regarding the appearance of Brian K. Fresonke's social security number. And, Brian K. Fresonke is not a party to this lawsuit. Yet, CR 11 only authorizes the court to issue "...an order to pay to other *party or parties* the amount of the reasonable expenses *incurred* because of the filing of the pleading, motion, or legal memorandum, including attorney fees." See CR 11. (italicised for emphasis) Thus, it was error of law to grant attorney fees.

Also, David R. Adams did not have standing to ask the Court to redact Brian K. Fresonke's social security number because David Adams can not claim harm from the appearance of his attorney's unredacted social security number. The standing doctrine prohibits a litigant from raising another's legal rights. *Walker v. Munro*, 124 Wn.2d 402, 879 P.2d 920 (Wash., 1994)

It is safe to say that Brian K. Fresonke was unhappy that Appellant had failed to redact his social security number from a pleading. The undersigned apologizes to Brian K. Fresonke for not redacting his social security number. However, why did Brian K. Fresonke wait a year to bring up the issue? Why didn't he ever inform the Appellant of the failure to redact social security number and that he would be seeking sanctions prior to filing of the CR 11 motion? But, a party seeking CR 11 sanctions should give notice to the court and the offending party promptly upon discovering a basis for doing so. *Bryant v. Joseph Tree, Inc.*, 119 Wn.2d at 224, 829 P.2d 1099 (Wash., 1992)

Therefore, the trial court could not award CR 11 sanctions. In other words, without prompt and prior notice regarding the potential violation of the rule, the Appellant was not given an opportunity to mitigate the sanction by amending or withdrawing the offending paper or asking the Court to seal it. But, opposing party was required to do so. *Biggs v. Vail*, 124 Wn.2d at 198, 876 P.2d 448 (Wash., 1994) And, without prior notice of intent to seek CR 11 sanction, award of sanctions were unwarranted. *Ibid*.

The brief containing Brian K. Fresonke's social security number was mailed to Brian K. Fresonke on November 5th, 2010. CP 440-450. The Respondent, through Brian K. Fresonke, did not oppose the motion. Likewise, Brian K. Fresonke himself did not oppose the motion. Thus, the Respondent, David R. Adams, did not incur any fees or costs. And, since Brian K. Fresonke does not allege that he did not receive a copy of the motion, he knew back in November of 2010 that his social security number was unredacted. Yet, Brian K. Fresonke claims that he "...spent 2.1 hours reviewing the Clerk's file to locate the places in the record where Mr. Bykov improperly inserted my social security number ... " CP 189-190. If he knew about the unredacted social secuity number in November of 2010, why did he have to go back and look for it? He could have brought up the issue at the time he received a copy of that motion. But, he didn't. He cannot now claim expenses for time spent "looking" for documents with unredacted social security numbers. But, of course, he did not incur any expenses.

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