68021-8

68021-8

COURT OF APPEALS NO. 68021-8-I

COURT OF APPEALS OF THE STATE OF WASHINGTON, DIV. I

VLADIK BYKOV,

Appellant,

۷.

DAVID R. ADAMS,

Respondent.

BRIEF OF RESPONDENT

Brian K. Fresonke WSBA #17655 Attorney for Respondent David Adams



Brian K. Fresonke Attorney at Law 1001 4th Avenue, Ste. 3200 Seattle, WA 98154 (206) 282-8775

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

Respondent Adams also had standing to bring his motion to redact or seal his attorney's social security number from Bykov's pleading pursuant to GR 15, which provides that "any party may request a hearing to seal or redact the court records."¹² GR 15(c)(1).

¹² A trial court may grant such a motion upon a finding that the sealing or redaction is justified by "compelling privacy or safety concerns that outweigh the public interest in access to the court file." GR 15(c)(2). "Sufficient privacy or safety concerns that may be weighed against the public interest include [a finding] that ... (E) The redaction includes only restricted personal identifiers

David Adams, a party to this lawsuit, had the right to seek appropriate relief from the court under CR 11 and GR 15 when Vladik Bykov filed a pleading intended to harass Adams' attorney. Adams submits that the same result would hold true if Bykov filed a pleading intended to harass one of Adams' witnesses in this case. Adams' attorney should not be required to intervene in a lawsuit in order to mitigate the harm caused by Bykov's harassment in this case.¹³ If Adams is found to have lacked standing to pursue this remedy, Adams submits that the result for Bykov will be a CR 11 sanctions in a significantly higher amount than the modes \$731.50 that was assessed against him by the trial court.

5. Bykov was afforded ample notice that Adams was seeking CR 11 sanctions against him.

On November 3, 2011, Appellant Bykov was personally served with an order requiring him to appear and show cause why the court should not (1) order the redaction of Fresonke's social security number from Bykov's November 5, 2010 pleading and (2) impose CR 11 sanctions upon Bykov because he filed "a pleading

contained in the court record." GR 15(c)(2)(E). Social security numbers are one type of "restricted personal identifier." GR 15(b)(6); GR 22(b)(6).

¹³ If the Court holds that Adams did not have standing to obtain this remedy, and his attorney is required to intervene in the matter upon a remand, then Bykov will

intended as an act of harassment against defendant's counsel that needlessly increased the cost of the litigation. CP 135-178. Respondent Adams had no duty to notify Bykov of anything prior to serving him with the November 3, 2011 order to show cause.

Further, CR 11 itself afforded Bykov with notice that he would be subject to sanctions if he signed and filed a pleading that he intended as an act of harassment.

A litigant appearing *pro se* is bound by the same rules of procedure and substantive law as his or her attorney would have been had the litigant chosen to be represented by counsel.

Patterson v. Superintendent of Public Instruction, 76 Wn. App. 666, 671, 887 P.2d 411 (1994), *rev. denied*, 126 Wn.2d 1018, 894 P.2d 564 (1995).

Bykov chose to sign and file the pleading that resulted in the CR 11 sanctions on November 5, 2010, while his first appeal was pending in the Court of Appeals. The timing of this filing is instructive - it came at the height of Bykov's harassment campaign against Adams' attorney during the 2 week period between October 24, 2010 until Bykov's jailing on November 8, 2010. See, Section 1.C of the Brief of Responent, *supra*. As a *pro se* litigant, Bykov

likely be paying much more than the modest \$731.50 in CR 11 sanctions that were assessed against him on November 15, 2011.

was responsible for conforming his behavior in this litigation to that of an attorney and he was either unable or unwilling to do so.

Two weeks after the December 3, 2010 dismissal of Bykov's first appeal, he filed the November 5, 2010 Superior Court pleading containing Fresonke's social security number in the Court of Appeals on December 17, 2010.¹⁴ CP 255-258; CP 262-270. In granting Respondent Adams' motion to redact his attorney's social security number from this document, the Court of Appeals Commissioner ruled on March 29, 2011 that '[t]he social security number of attorney Brian Fresonke has no relationship to this matter." CP 178.

The March 29, 2011 ruling provided Bykov with notice that Fresonke's financial and personal information had no relationship to Bykov's lawsuit against Adams. Bykov did nothing, leaving Adams to reopen the lawsuit in the trial court following the May 13, 2011 mandate to procure the same relief that had been granted by the Court of Appeals with respect to Bykov's filing of the November 5, 2010 pleading there.

¹⁴ Bykov included the Superior Court pleading in a Court of Appeals pleading he termed "Appellant's Motion for Stay," wherein he asked the Court of Appeals to stay the \$1,600.00 judgment in the Superior Court until the Court of Appeals "decided the appeal on the merits." CP 239.

Bykov erroneously claims that Adams was required to provide him with notice that he was seeking CR 11 sanctions "promptly upon discovering a basis for doing so." Brief of Appellant, p. 14. "[A] party should move for CR 11 sanctions as soon as it becomes aware they are warranted" because "[p]rompt notice of the possibility of sanctions fulfills the primary purpose of the rule, which is to deter litigation abuse." <u>North Coast Electric</u> <u>Co. v. Selig, 131 Wn. App. 636, 649, 151 P.3d 211 (2007).</u>

The general rule in <u>Selig</u> does not apply to the facts in the instant case. Bykov filed his offensive pleading in the trial court on November 5, 2010, at which time the trial court had no jurisdiction due to the pendency of Bykov's first appeal in the Court of Appeals. After filing the offensive November 5, 2010 pleading, Bykov filed no further pleadings in the trial court until nearly one year later on November 10, 2011 when he filed his responsive pleadings to Adams' motion to show cause on November 10, 2011. CP 234.

The pleadings that Bykov filed on November 10, 2011 included a resubmission of the offensive pleading that was the basis for the CR 11 motion (CP 261-270) and additional documents and statements that had no relationship to the litigation. CP 224-319. Bykov refiled his offensive pleading in this case for the

second time 7 days after he received *actual notice* that Adams was seeking CR 11 sanctions against him. Bykov fails to explain how Adams' failure to provide him notice that he was violating CR 11 in November 2010 would have made any difference in the amount of the CR 11 sanction he was assessed in this case.¹⁵

B. THE TRIAL COURT PROPERLY AWARDED POSTJUDGMENT INTEREST TO ADAMS ON THE \$1,600.00 JUDGMENT.

Postjudgment interest accrues until the judgment debtor unambiguously and unconditionally directs the court clerk to apply funds in the court registry to the satisfaction of the judgment. <u>Lindsay v. Pacific Topsoils, Inc.</u>, 129 Wn. App. 672, 679-80, 120 P.3d 102 (2005); <u>In re Estate of Bailey</u>, 56 Wn.2d 623, 628, 354 P.2d 920 (1960).

In the instant case, Bykov never directed the court clerk to apply the funds he deposited in the court registry to the satisfaction of Adams' judgment. After the Court of Appeals issued its

¹⁵ Bykov ignored the other warnings he received that there would be consequences for harassing both David Adams and his attorney in this litigation. See, CP 156-157 (Fresonke's 7/26/2010 request to Bykov to cease sending e-mails that did not pertain to his lawsuit); CP 273 (Fresonke's 9/16/10 e-mail to Bykov in response to Bykov's creepy request to have Adams come to his apartment to receive a judgment payoff and advising Bykov of how he should properly tender a satisfaction of the judgment against him); CP 157-158 (Fresonke's 11/2/2010 letter to Bykov directing him to cease and desist from engaging in further harassing behavior and from sending further threatening communications).

mandate following Bykov's first appeal, Adams had to obtain an order to show cause and serve it upon Bykov to obtain a court order directing the court clerk to disburse the funds in the court registry.

Bykov also did not tender payment of the \$1,600.00 judgment to Adams' attorney, as the September 16, 2010 e-mails that he relies upon for his false statement to the contrary demonstrate:

Date	Text of E-Mail
September 16, 2010	BYKOV TO FRESONKE: I hereby offer full payment for debt owed to David R. Adams in case #1-0-2-15463-9. Please have David R. Adams stop by my address to pick up the money owed to him. Please inform me the day and time he will stop by. CP 273.
September 16, 2010	FRESONKE TO BYKOV: You may tender payment of the judgment to me at my office. You can make your check or money order payble [sic] to David Adams and I will deliver it to him. There is no reason for Mr. Adams to stop by your address. When any payment has cleared, I will file a satisfaction of judgment with the court. How are you abe to pay the \$1,600.00 judgment, yet claim to have no money to pay court filing fees? CP 273.
September 16, 2010	BYKOV TO FRESONKE Will you accept money? CP 273.
September 16, 2010	FRESONKE TO BYKOV: If you mean cash, I am sorry but I do not accept cash from adverse parties. I can only accept a check or money order made payable to David Adams. CP 273.

The trial court did not err by determining that Bykov owed postjudgment interest on the \$1,600.00 judgment. The credibility

of Adams' attorney was immaterial to the trial court's rulings in this case.¹⁶

C. THE TRIAL COURT PROPERLY DENIED BYKOV'S CR 60 MOTION TO VACATE THE \$731.50 JUDGMENT AND THE COURT OF APPEALS SHOULD NOT REVIEW THIS RULING BECAUSE BYKOV FAILED TO ASSIGN ERROR TO THIS RULING AND FAILED TO PRESENT ARGUMENT OR LEGAL AUTHORITY AS TO THE TRIAL COURT'S RULING.

Motions to vacate are governed by CR 60. An appellate court's disposition of a CR 60(b) motion is reviewed under an abuse of discretion standard. <u>Pederson's Fryer Farms, Inc. v.</u> <u>Transamerica Ins. Co.</u>, 83 Wn. App. 432, 454, 922 P.2d 126 (1996).

CR 60(b) lists the grounds upon which a party may properly move to vacate a court order. CR 60(a) and (b). Parties seeking to vacate a court order are required to file a motion setting forth the CR 60(a) or (b) grounds upon which relief is asked and also the applicant's affidavit "setting forth a concise statement of the facts or errors upon which the motion is based." CR 60(e)(1).

¹⁶ Based upon Bykov's frivolous lawsuit against Adams, his ongoing campaign to harass Adams's attorney, his arrest for harassing Adams' attorney, and the ambiguous pleading Bykov filed in the Court of Appeals (not in the Superior Court) on December 17, 2010, it is submitted that Bykov did not provide Adams' attorney with notice that there were funds in the Superior Court registry that Bykov was willing to pay to Adams.

On November 28, 2011, Bykov filed a motion to vacate the

\$731.50 judgment entered against him on November 15, 2011. CP

323-415. Bykov's motion set forth the following grounds in support

of his motion to vacate:

[B]ecause the Court did not have jurisdiction (case was dismissed on June 29, 2010); because this Court never entered an underlying order that supports the judgment; because the judgment was entered in error of law and fact and because it was unreasonable to grant \$731.50 as expense for redaction of three social security numbers from one page of a document that was submitted more than a year ago – and never opposed by opposing counsel [sic]. Furthermore, there was no evidentiary hearing to determine the propriety or veracity of the amount of expenses alleged.

CP 367.

The affidavit that Bykov submitted in support of his motion to

vacate set forth the following statement of the facts and errors upon

which his motion to vacate was based:

2. On November 5th, 2010 I properly served Brain [sic] K. Fresonke a copy of the motion titled "MOTION TO ADMIT ADDITIONAL EVIDENCE FOR APPEAL" (Exhibit #3). However, Brian Fresonke never responded to that motion.

3. Brain [sic] Fresonke never contacted me in any way to inform me that he wanted me to redact his social security number from that motion, or that he would be filing a CR 11 motion.

The only facts and errors set forth in Bykov's affidavit pertained to his claim that the trial court erred in entering a judgment against him because Adams' attorney did not respond to a motion he filed in the trial court while the case was on appeal to the Court of Appeals and because Adams' attorney did not contact him to inform him that he did not want his social security number included in Bykov's pleadings. Bykov's affidavit did not provide any explanation as to why Adams was required to file responsive pleadings to a motion that Bykov had no right to file and the trial court had no jurisdiction to consider. Bykov's affidavit did not provide any explanation as to why Adams's attorney would contact Bykov for any purpose whatsoever in the midst of Bykov's bizarre and criminal harassment campaign against him. CP 432.

The trial court properly denied Bykov's motion to vacate the November 15, 2011 judgment after finding that his motion failed to meet the substantive requirements for CR 60 relief and that he had also failed to conform to the show cause requirements of CR 60.¹⁷ CP 434.

¹⁷ Bykov failed to procure an order to show cause and properly serve it upon David Adams as is required by CR 60(e)(a) and (c).

An appellate court will not consider an issue for which no assignment of error is made and no argument or legal citation is presented. <u>State v. Olson</u>, 126 Wn.2d 315, 321, 893 P.2d 629 (1995). Bykov has failed to assign error to the trial court's denial of his motion to vacate and he has failed to present argument or legal citation as to the trial court's ruling. This Court should not review the trial court's denial of the motion to vacate.

D. THE COURT OF APPEALS SHOULD INDEPENDENTLY REVIEW THE TRIAL COURT RECORD AND MAKE A FINDING THAT BYKOV FAILED TO CONDUCT A REASONABLE INQUIRY INTO THE FACTUAL AND LEGAL BASIS OF HIS CR 60 MOTION TO VACATE AND DETERMINE WHETHER THE MOTION VIOLATED CR 11.

After the trial court in the instant case denied Bykov's CR 60 motion to vacate, it *sua sponte* assessed \$1,000.00 in CR 11 sanctions against Bykov. CP 434. This CR 11 ruling was based upon the trial court's findings that Bykov 's motion "fails to conform to the show cause requirements of CR 60" and "fails to meet the substantive requirements for relief." Bykov did not challenge these findings, which are now verities on appeal. <u>Moreman</u>, 126 Wn.2d at 39.

The trial court did not make a finding with respect to whether Bykov failed to conduct a reasonable inquiry into the

vacate. CP 434. The Supreme Court has held that a court may not impose CR 11 sanctions unless it makes a finding of a failure to conduct a reasonable inquiry. <u>Bryant</u>, 119 Wn.2d at 220. When the trial court record consists entirely of written documents and a trial court does not make a finding required to make a CR 11 determination, an appellate court may independently review the evidence and make the required finding. <u>Id</u>., at 222, *citing* <u>Lobdell v. Sugar 'N Spice, Inc.</u>, 33 Wn. App. 881, 887, 658 P.2d 1267, rev. denied, 99 Wash.2d 1016 (1983).

The trial court in the instant case neither heard testimony nor oral argument and was in no better position to evaluate the written evidence than the appellate court. See, Bryant, supra. at 222. Accordingly, this Court should conduct an independent review of the written record to determine whether Bykov conducted a reasonable inquiry into the factual and legal basis of his motion to vacate rather than remand the case to the trial court to make this determination. Id.

A motion "may be subject to CR 11 sanctions if it is both (1) baseless and (2) signed without a reasonable inquiry. <u>Engstrom</u>, 166 Wn. App. at 916. CR 11 sanctions should be imposed only

David Adams as is required by CR 60(e)(a) and (c).

when it is "patently clear" that a motion has "absolutely no chance of success." <u>Skimming v. Boxer</u>, 119 Wn. App. 748, 755, 82 P.3d 707 (2004).

Bykov failed to assign error to the trial court's denial of his motion to vacate and failed to present argument or legal citation as to the trial court's ruling. The Court of Appeals should not review the trial court's denial of the motion to vacate, but rather whether his motion had "absolutely no chance of success." <u>State v. Olson</u>, 126 Wn.2d at 321.

Bykov's motion to vacate does not mention CR 60. CP 367-377. Instead, the motion lists 11 "issues." Bykov's 1st issue alleges that the judgment should be vacated because the trial court lacked jurisdiction after it granted Bykov's motion to dismiss his own claims against Adams on June 29, 2010. CP 370. Bykov's contention ignored the state law that provided Adams a period of 30 days after the voluntary dismissal to file his motion pursuant to the frivolous lawsuit statute, RCW 4.84.185. It further ignored Bykov's own motion filings after it granted Adams' RCW 4.84.185 motion including his motion to vacate that he filed in the trial court on November 28, 2011. CP 367.

Bykov's 2nd issue erroneously stated that there was no order underlying the judgment entered by the trial court on November 15, 2010. CP 370. The underlying order was entered with the judgment on November 15, 2010. CP 320-322.

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